
NO. D-000298C

EUNICER. BENCKENSTEIN, WALTER . § IN THE DISTRICT COURT
G. RIEDEL III, AND ROY WINGATE, §
INDEPENDENT CO-EXECUTORS OF §
THE ESTATE OF NELDA C. STARK, §
DECEASED, EUNICE R. §
BENCKENSTEIN, INDEPENDENT §
EXECUTRIX OF THE ESTATE OF H.J. §
LUTCHER STARK, DECEASED, AND §
WALTER G. RIEDEL III, GENERAL §
MAt-IAGER_QLIHE-NELDA-C-ANIl---§-
H.J. LUTCHER STARK FOUNDATION § OF ORANGE COUNTY, TEXAS

§
\1. §

§
IDA MARIE STARK, rNDIVIDUALLY §
AND AS INDEPENDENT EXECUTOR § 260th JUDICIAL DISTRICT
OF THE ESTATE OF W.H. STARK II,
DECEASED, ET AL.

PLAINTIFFS' REPLY TO DEFENDANTS' RESPONSE TO
PLAINTIFFS' AMENDED MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

TO THE HONORABLE JUDGE OF SAID COURT:

COME NOW Eunice R. Benckenstein, Walter G. Riedel III, and Roy Wingate, as

independent Go-Executors of the Estate of Nelda C. Stark, Deceased, Eunice R. Benckenstein, as

Successor Independent Executor ofthe Estate ofH.J. Lutcher Stark, Deceased, and The Nelda C. and

H.J. Lutcher Stark Foundation, Plaintiffs, and make the following Reply to the Response filed by Ida

Marie Stark, individually and as independent Executor of the Estate of William H. Stark, II,

Deceased. William H. Stark III, Randall Hill Stark, and Lym; Marie Stark Barras, Defendants, to

!
Plaintiffs' Amended Motion for Summary Judgment:
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INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

Plaintiffs filed this action for declaratory judgment against Defendants pursuant to the Texas

Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act on July14, 2000. Plaintiffs' sole claim in their Petition was for

the adjudication of the validity of a Release executed by Defendants ten years ago in the Previous

Litigation' between the same parties as to claims asserted.by Defendants.' Defendants filed their

Original Answer on August 10, 2000. After propounding written discovery and receiving only
--_._--_ .. _---------------- --- -- - - - - - -- -----

inadequate answers and improper objections,J Plaintiffs filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on

October 19,2000.

A status conference was held in this case before then-presiding Judge Eric Andell on June

5, 2001, Four days before the status conference, Defendants filed a Counterclaim against Plaintiffs

and brought in additional Counter-Defendants.4 Because of this eleventh hour pleading, Plaintiffs

requested and obtained from Judge Andell additional time to amend their Motion for Summary

Judgment so that the new allegations which were pled for the firsttime in Defendants' Counterclaim

might be examined and such claims included within Plaintiffs' request for summary judgment as

'The term "Previous Litigation" shall mean Cause No. D-880162-C, in the 260'h Judicial District Court of
Orange County, Texas, styled Ida Marie Stark, Individually and as Independent Executrix ofthe Estate q(William H.
Slark II. Deceased, el al vs. Nelda Childers Stark, Individually and as Independent Executrix of the Estote of H.J.
LUlcher Slark, Deceased. el 01.

,
-This Release. referred to hereafter as the 1991 Release. is attached to Plaintiffs' Amended Motion for Summary

Judgment as Exhibit "B." A summary of the pertinent terms of the 1991 Release is set forth on pages 7-9 of Plaintiffs'
Amended Motion for Summary Judgment.

) On October 16. 2000, Plaintiffs filed their Motion to Strike Defendants' Objections to Plaintiffs' Requests
for Admissions and Motion to Deem Defendants' Objections to Requests for Admissions Admitted. and, Alternatively,
Motion to Compel Respense. On the same date, Plaintiffs filed their Motion to ~trike Defendants' Objections to
Discovery and Motion to Compel Discovery Responses from Defendants. These MotIons have now been pending before
this Court for nearly a year, and Plaintiffs still seek a hearing on these Motions.

'The new Counter-Defendants were: Eunice R. Benckenstein, Roy Wingate, Walter G. Riedel, III and Clyde
V. McKee. in their individual capacities.
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Plaintiffs deemed proper. Judge Andell set July 15,2001 (a Saturday) as the deadline for filing the

Amended Motion for Summary Judgment and ordered that Defendants file a response within 30

days, with any reply to be made by Plaintiffs to be due within 15 days thereafter.

On July 17,2001, the first business day after July 15,2001, Plaintiffs filed their Amended

Motion for Summary Judgment. The Amended Motion for Summary Judgment includes summary

judgment grounds for all of the counterclaims asserted by Defendants for the first time in their

pleadings filed on June I, 200 I.

On or about August 15,2001, Defendants filed a 63-page Response to the Amended Motion

for Summary Judgment made by Plaintiffs on July 17,2001. This instrument, entitled "Defendants'

Motion for Stay, Continuance, and/or Abatement and Response to Plaintiffs' Amended Motion for

Summary Judgment," is hereafter referred to as "Defendants' Response." On the same date,

Defendants filed their First Amended Original Counter-Petition, Third Party Petition, and Petition

for Bill of Review, their First Amended Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Jurisdiction, and a Motion

for Continuance on the Summary Judgment Hearing.

In Defendants' Response, Defendants have, for the first time, furnished Plaintiffs and this

Court with a list of specific properties which Defendants allege Plaintiffs and/or their predecessors,

Nelda C. Stark and H.J. Lutcher Stark, concealed from Defendants during the course ofthe Previous

Litigation. Defendants have asserted the concealment of these properties since the initial meeting

between Defendants' counsel, Clay Burgess, and Plaintiffs' counsel a few days before the filing of

Plaintiffs' Original Petition. Defendants, however, while threatening the Independ,ent Co-Executors

ofthe Nelda C. Stark Estate with litigation against them individually in Louisiana and even criminal
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charges, refused to disclose the specific properties alleged to have been concealed. 5 Defendants

further refused to disclose such properties in response to written discovery requests made by

Plaintiffs in this litigation over a year ago. Now, at the very last possible moment in an effort to

salvage their alleged claims in Texas, Defendants have decided to reveal these properties to Plaintiffs

and this Court for the first time.

Simply stated, Defendants' Response is a virtual collage of misstatements of law,

misrepresentations offacts, and irrelevancies. Nothing in this 63-page diatribe rises to the level of

a response to the central point made in Plaintiffs' Amended Motion for Summary Judgment: that

Plaintiffs are entitled to summary judgment with respect to all issues raised in this litigation as a

matter of law. Instead, Defendants are attempting to mislead the Court by asserting duties that do

not exist, making distinctions that have no relevancy, and asserting claims of fraud and conversion

based on alleged "facts" that Defendants and their counsel either know or should know to be utterly

false.

In this Reply, Plaintiffs will demonstrate conclusively to the Court that:

I. Defendants have failed to allege genuine issues of material fact. Indeed, the so-called

"facts" put forth by Defendants in support of their assertions of conversion and fraud constitute to

a colossal lie. The falsehood of these claims is obvious, blatant and easily verifiable by documents

on file in the public record.

2. Not only have Defendants and their counsel made untrue statements offact to this Court,

but Defendants have in their possession from the Previous Litigation the very document,s that
l

; Fora com plete and accurate reporting ofthis initial meeting, see the Affidavits of Plaintiffs' Counsel. attached
as Exhibit "A" to Plaintiffs' Response to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs' Petition for Declaratory Relief,
attached as Exhibit 3 to Response.
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conclusivelydisprovetheirfactualallegations.Thus,notonly haveDefendantsfailed to investigate

thetruthandaccuracyoftheirclaimsby searchingthepublic recordsbeforepresentingthemastrue

to this Court, but Defendantshaveactualknowledgeof the falsity of their claimsevenasthey are

swearingunderoaththat suchclaimsaretrue.

3. Defendantshave consistentlymisstatedand misappliedthe law. They have created

fiduciary dutiesthatdo notexistasamatteroflaw, asdeterminedby this very Court in thePrevious

Litigation.6 Theyhavefailed to distinguishthe Schlumbergerdecisionin anymeaningfulway, but

insteadhave attemptedto use their false factual allegationsto createan exceptionto the rule

announcedby theTexasSupremeCourt in theSchlumbergercase.7

Plaintiffsoffer thefollowing attacheddocuments,whicharepertinentto theargumentsstated

hereinandare incorporatedhereinby referenceherein,asadditionalsummaryjudgmentevidence:

Exhibit A - Defendants'First AmendedOriginal Counter-Petition,Third-Party
Petition,andPetitionfor Bill ofReview,FiledSubjecttoDefendants'FirstAmended
Motion to Dismissfor LackofJurisdiction(referredto hereinafteras"Defendants'
AmendedCounterclaim").

Exhibit B - Affidavit of Darrell Alston, togetherwith supportingdocuments.[Big
Lake Property].

Exhibit C - Affidavit of Roy Wingate, together with supporting documents.
[Louisiana Properties].

Exhibit D - Plaintiffs' Objectionsto Defendants'SummaryJudgmentEvidence,filed
on this date.

"SeeMotion for SummaryJudgment,Exhibit L to Plaintiffs' AmendedMotion for SummaryJudgment,and
PartialSummaryJudgmentof April 24, 1990,Exhibit N,

'Referencesthroughoutthis Reply to Schlumbergershall be to SchlumbergerTechnologyCorp. v. Swanson,
959 S.W.2d 171 (Tex. 1997).

;',



12xhibit E - Exhibit A to Affidavit of Louis T. LaBruyere (Cameron Parish). with
properties numbered sequentially.

Exhibit F - Affidavit of Darrell Alston. together with supporting documents. [Other
Louisiana properties].

Exhibit F-l - Unauthenticated eopies of Bates-Stamped Documents provided to
Defendants in the Previous Litigation on Caddo Parish Mineral Interest.

Exhibit F-2 - Unauthenticated Bates-Stamped H,J.L. Stark Audit Report - 12/31/46.

Exhibit G - AffidavitofRoy Wingate. with supporting documents [Texas properties].

Exhjbit H - Affidavit of Roy Wingate. with supporting documents [Colorado
propertyJ.

Exhibit I - Affidavit of Norma Clark.

Exhibit J- Petition for Sworn Detail Deseriptive List. Final Accounting and Recover
Deeedent's Assets and/or Funds, filed by Defendants on November 30, 2000, in
Succession of H,J. Lutcher Stark, Case No. 15404 in the 14th Judicial District Court
of Calcasieu Parish, Louisiana.

Exhibit K - Order Continuing Independent Administration and Appointing Suecessor
Independent Executrix entered on March 27, 200 I, in the Estate of the H,J. Lutcher
Stark, Deceased. Cause No. 3006 in the County Court of Orange County, Texas.

Exhibit L - Inventory, Appraisement and List of Claims field by Eunice R.
Benckenstein, as Successor Independent Executorofthe Estate ofH,J. Lutcher Stark,
Deceased, on June 25, 2001.

Further, Plaintiffs have on this date filed their Supplemental Motion for Summary Judgment,.

in which Plaintiffs contend that limitations is an additional reason why summary judgment would

be proper, on the basis ofso-called summary judgment evidence presented by Defendants for the first

time in their filings on August IS, 200 I. Plaintiffs have also filed a separate document entitled

Objections to Defendants' Summary Judgment Evidence, in which Plaintiffs have delineated each

of the technical objections to the various affidavits and sworn statements offered by Defendants in
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support oftheir Response. Plaintiffs request that these additional filings be considered.by this Court,

along with their Amended Motion for Summary Judgment and the summary judgment evidence

attached thereto, as well as this Reply and the documents attached hereto, in rendering a final

decision.

I.

DEFENDANTS' FACTUAL CLAIMS ARE KNOWINGLY FALSE

The essence of Defendants' claims may be found in the following passage on Page 4 of

Defendants' Motion for Stay, Continuance, and/or Abatement and Response to Plaintiffs' Amended

Motion for Summary Judgment (hereinafter "Defendants' Response"):

After much time, expense and investigation, Defendants have found
numerous assets and pieces of property (amounting to thousands of
acres of land) that belonged to Nita Hill Stark and that should have
been distributed to her sons, William and Homer. However, although
Plaintiffs, among others, had an affirmative duty to disclose the
existence of those assets and properties, such information was
deliberately and intentionally withheld from William and Homer (and
their heirs) in the prior litigation. These assets and properties were
passed along through the estates of H. J. Lutcher Stark, Nelda C.
Stark, the Nelda C. and H.J. Lutcher Stark Foundation, and Eunice R.
Benckenstein, they were deliberately and intentionally withheld from
the inventories ofNita Hill Stark, H.J. Lutcher Stark, Nelda C. Stark,
and the Nelda C. and H.J. Lutcher Stark Foundation. Also,
Defendants have recently found that many ofthe assets and properties
that were hidden from them have, in fact, been transferred and/or
sold.

In the following pages, Plaintiffs will show that (I) such allegations are completely false, and

(2) Defendants and their counsel had both constructive notice and actual knowledge of the falsity

of their allegations when they were made.

MW/303227
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A. Fictional Fable No.1: The Legend orEig Lake

In Section 4.00 of Defendants' Amended Counterclaim, (ironically entitled "Factual

Background"), Defendants assert under oath that a tract of real estate located in Cameron Parish.

Louisiana, until recently in the Estate ofNelda C. Stark, Deceased (subsequently referred to herein

as "the Big Lake Property"), was concealed from Defendants in the Estate ofH.J. Lutcher Stark from

1965 until recently:

... [D]uring her tenure as the succession executor for the Estate ofH.J.
Lutcher Stark, [Nelda C.] Stark hid more assets from the Louisiana
succession and never informed the Stark heirs oftheir claims of said
assets. For example, Ms. Stark, as executor of the Estate of H.J.
Lutcher Stark, transferred to herself what is now known as the 'Big
Lake Property' ....She transferred this property to herselfwithout ever
contacting the heirs, although they were entitled to 50% of the
property. Nelda Stark never listed it on the inventory in Louisiana....

...This property should have been listed in the Estate ofH.J. Lutcher
Stark and the heirs ofWilliam Stark should have received one-halfof
this property. It was never listed in the estate in Louisiana, she never
contacted the heirs about this property, she breached her fiduciary
duty and she sold it to herself without knowledge of any of the other
owners....In 1965 when H.J. Lutcher Stark died he owned the
'Big Lake Property.' Nelda Stark intentionally failed to list it on his
inventory and in 1972, sold it to herself.... 8

In Section 5.0 I ofDefendants' Amended Counterclaim, entitled "Breach ofFiduciary Duty"

the same allegation is made again:

First, with respect to the 'Big Lake' Property, Counter-Plaintiffs
would show that they were never informed that the Estate of
H. J. Lutcher Stark owned the 'Big Lake' Property in Louisiana at the
time of his death. The 'Big Lake' Property was never listed in the
Estate of H.J. Lutcher Stark and was sold by Nelda Stark to Nelda
Stark without any court approval. Thirty years later, when Nelda
Stark died in 1999, the 'Big Lake' Property appears in her estate and

, Exhibit A, Defendants' Amended Counterclaim, pages 15-16 (emphasis added).
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Eunice Benckenstein sells the property to her relatives, the C.L.
Benckenstein Trust....9

In Section 7.04 ofDefendants' Amended Counterclaim, Defendants request relief from this

Court with respect to the alleged concealment Of the Big Lake Property in the Estate of Nita Hill

Stark:

The Court determine and declare the properties, including but not
limited to, the 'Big Lake' Property and the Rosalyn [sic] Ranch,
wllich- should nave oeen maae apar1:oflhe EsfafeofNifa·HilIStark:.
Deceased, wherever located and whether real, personal or mixed, and
which are instead reflected as assets in the Estate of H.J. Lutcher
Stark, Deceased, and/or Estate of Nelda C. Stark, Deceased, or
otherwise omitted entirely from any inventory or accounting and
order their return or the cash equivalent.. .. lo

In a verification attached as page 28 to Defendants' Amended Counterclaim, Defendants'

counsel of record, Kevin Isern, swears under oath that the allegations in the Amended Counterclaim,

including those set forth hereinabove, are within his personal knowledge and are true and correct.

On pages 28-33 of their Response, Defendants contend that H.J. Lutcher Stark breached a

fiduciary duty to Defendants by concealing, among other things, the Big Lake Property, from Homer

Stark and W. H. Stark II in the Nita Hill Stark Estate. I I Nita Hill Stark died in 1939. Defendants

further assert that Nelda C. Stark, as Independent Executrix of the Estate ofH.J. Lutcher Stark, and

now Eunice R. Benckenstein, as Successor Independent Executrix of the Estate of H.J. Lutcher

Stark, breached and continue to breach a fiduciary duty to Defendants by failing to disclose the same

,
fd. at page 17.

III fd. at page 25.

II Defendants' Response, pages 28-29.
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property to them. 12 Defendants further complain that Nelda C. Stark never listed the Big Lake

Property on an inventory in the H.J. Lutcher Stark Estate, even though (Defendants claim) "[i]n 1965

when H.J. Lutcher Stark died he owned the 'Big Lake Property.' ,,13 Defendants would have this

Court believe that they were entitled to one-half of the Big Lake Property under a wholly erroneous

theory of forced heirship in Louisiana. 14

In support of their claims, Defendants have attached affidavits of each of the Defendants

(Exhibits 5, 10, II and 12 to Defendants' Response) and two affidavits from a purported title

examiner in Louisiana (Exhibit 8 to Defendants' Response). Each of the sworn affidavits of

Defendants contain the same statements: that during the Prior Litigation, "numerous requests were

made of [Plaintiffs] to provide full, complete and accurate disclosures of all properties and assets

were owned by Nita Hill Stark, H,J. Lutcher Stark, and the Stark Foundation;" that numerous

properties were not disclosed; that the affiant "was never informed that the Estate ofH..1. Lutcher

Stark ()\i'I1ed the 'Big Lake' property in Louisiana at the time ofhis death" [emphasis added]; and

that th~ Big Lake Property was never listed in the Estate ofH,J. Lutcher Stark but "appears" in the

Estate of Nelda C. Stark 30 years later.!' Each of the Affiants swear under oath that the statements

made therein are within hisor her own personal knowledge and are true and correct.

Ie {J. at pages 29-3 J, Defendants' misstatements of the law of fiduciary duty are discussed fully in Part II
belo\\',

11, Iii. at page 38.

"Defendants' misstatements of the law regarding the Louisiana law offorced heirship are exposed in Part III
belo\\'.

I.' See Defendants' Response, Exhibits 5,10, II, and 12.
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1. Fictional Fable No. lA: The Big Lake Property
was an Asset of the Estate of Nita Hill Stark.

The Big Lake Property was never an asset of the Estate ofNita Hill Stark. Nita Hill

Stark died in 1939. H,J. Lutcher Stark acquired the seven lots that became the Big Lake Property

in two transactions in 1944 and 1946, long after Nita Hill Stark's death. This is conclusively shown

in documents appearing in the public record in Cameron Parish, Louisiana. See Exhibit B. Affidavit

bfDarrell Alston. Tilus, H:J. LuicherStilrk; asiri.deperident executor oftl1e Estate ofNita Hill Stark.

could not possibly have owed Defendants a fiduciary duty with respect to the Big Lake Prope11y and

no forced heirship rights could have attached to such property under Louisiana law."

2. Fictional Fable No. IE: The Big Lake Property
was an Asset of H.J. Lutcher Stark at his Death.

When H,J. Lutcher Stark died in September 1965, he did not own the Big Lake

Property. In 1950, H,J. Lutcher Stark had sold the Big Lake Property to Lutcher & Moore Lumber

Company in an arms-length transaction. In 1967, two years after his death, the Estate ofH,J. Lutcher

Stark reacquired the Big Lake Property for its thenfair market value. Five years later, in 1972, Nelda

C. Stark acquired the Big Lake Property from the H,J. Lutcher Stark Estate for the same price. Each

of these transactions also appear in the public records of Cameron Parish, Louisiana. See Exhibit

B. Affidavit of Darrell Alston.

Thus. the statements of Defendants that H.J. Lutcher Stark owned the Big Lake

Property at his death are false. That being the case, no forced heirship rights attached to this property

", See discussion of Louisiana law of forced heirship at Part III below.
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in the H.J. Lutcher Stark Estate, and Nelda C. Stark owed Defendants no fiduciary duty with respect

to this property .17

3. Fictional Fable No. Ie: Defendants have just
recently discovered that the Big Lake Property
was in the H.J. Lutcher Stark Estate.

It is bad enough that Defendants and their counsel would misrepresent facts to this

COUli when the falsity of those statements can be so easily evidenced from documents in the public
-- -

record with which Defendants are charged with constructive notice. Far worse, however. is the fact

that Defendants and their attorneys had actual knowledge of the falsity of their claims through

documents provided to them and copied by their attorneys in the Previous Litigation, or in many

cases provided by Defendants themselves during the discovery process in the Previous Litigation.

See Exhibit C. Affidavit ofRov Wingate, and documents attached thereto, in which it is conclusively

shown that Defendants were furnished copies of documents in the Previous Litigation that

established the chain of title to the Big Lake Property from 1944 through 1988. According to

representations made by Defendants' counsel, these documents are still in the possession of

Defendants. Thus, Defendants have known for more than 10 years that the Estate ofNita Hill Stark

did not have an interest in the Big Lake Property and that H.J. Lutcher Stark did not own the Big

Lake Propeliy at the time ofhis death. The Affidavits of Defendants and their counsel are false and

17See discussion of forced heirship, Part III below. Defendants also complain that Nelda C. Stark violated a
duty to them by transferring the Big Lake Property to herself in 1972 without prior court approval. See Exhibit A, .
Defendants' Amended Counterclaim, page 17. This issue is a red herring. Because the Big Lake Property was not an
asset ofH,J. Lutcher Stark at the time of his death, no forced heirship rights attached. And because all legacies to Homer
Stark and William H. Stark II under the Will ofH,J, Lutcher Stark were fully satisfied, Defendants have no standing to
complain now about a mere technical defect in a transfer oftitle almost 30 years ago that did not involve them in anyway.
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the misrepresentations repeatedly made to this Court are so obvious that they must have been

intentional.

B. Fictional Fable No.2: The Myth ofthe Missing Marshes.

Throughout their Amended Counterclaim and Response, Defendants assert that H. J. Lutcher

Stark, Nelda C. Stark and others have concealed from them "tens of thousands of acres. if not

hundreds of thousands of acres" in Louisiana which (Defendants claim) were assets of the Nita Hill

Stark Estate and/or the RJ. Lutcher Stark Estate; that Defendants have only recently learned of the

existence ofsuch properties; andthat Plaintiffs and their predecessors have breached a fiduciary duty

by failing to disclose such properties to Defendants.

The summary judgment evidence offered by Defendants in support of these claims consists

of two affidavits from a purported Louisiana title examiner, Louis R. LaBruyere IV, identifying

85 properties in Cameron Parish (including Big Lake) and one property in Iberia Parish. According

to LaBruyere' s Affidavits, these properties were acquired by either H.J. Lutcher Stark or Lutcher &

Moore Lumber Company between 1900 and 1965, and title had not been divested at the time of

H. J. Lutcher Stark' s death in 1965. '8 In addition, Defendants have each sworn under oath that they

have recently discovered that the properties listed in the LaBruyere Affidavits were withheld by

Plaintiffs in the Previous Litigation." Finally, Defendants' counsel, Kevin Isern, has sworn under

l
18 Defendants' Response, Exhibit 8. These Affidavits have obvious defects that render them worthless as

summary judgment evidence. See Exhibit D, Plaintiffs' Objections to Defendants' Summary Judgment Evidence.

10 Defendants' Response, Ex.hibits 5,10, II, and 12.
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oath, in a verification attached to Defendants' Amended Counterclaim, that such allegations are

within his personal knowledge and are true and correct.20

1. Fictional Fable No. 2A: "Hundreds of thousands
of acres "of land in Louisiana were concealed in
the Nita Hill Stark or H.J. Lutcher Stark Estates.

The simplest way to demonstrate the utter falsity of this claim and the extent of

Defendants' efforts to mislead this Court is to examine, item by item, the properties listed on

Exhibit A attached to the LaBruyere Affidavit for the Cameron Parish title research. Attached as

Exhibit E is a copy of the LaBruyere Affidavit (Cameron Parish) with the specific properties

numbered sequentially. The numbers below correspond to properties described on Exhibit E.

1. Properties 1 and 2 are the Big Lake Property. As stated in
subpart A above, this property was not acquired by H.J.
Lutcher Stark until after the death ofNita Hill Stark. On the
date ofH.J. Lutcher Stark's death, it was owned by Lutcher &
Moore Lumber Company, having been conveyed by H. J,
Lutcher Stark to Lutcher & Moore Lumber Company by deed
dated November 8, 1950, and filed in the Public Records of
Cameron Parish, Louisiana.

2. Properties 3, 4, 7,15,19,20,21,22,23,24,75,76,77,78,
79, and 80 were owned at one time by H. J. Lutcher Stark, but
he conveyed his interest in such Properties to Lutcher &
Moore Lumber Company by deed dated November 8, 1950,
and filed in the Public Records ofCameron Parish, Louisiana.

3. The Public Records ofCameron Parish, Louisiana reflect that
H. J. Lutcher Stark and Lutcher & Moore Lumber Company
never owned Properties 5, 6, 8, 16, 17,25,26,27,28,29,30,
31,32,33,34,35,36,37,38,39,40,41,42,43,44,45,46,
47,48,49,50,51,52,53,54,55,56,57,58,59,60,61,62,
63,64,65,66,67,68,73,81,82,83,84 and 85. This includes
55 of the 85 Properties on the LaBruyere Affidavit.

20 Exhibit A, Defendants' Amended Counterclaim, page 28.
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4. Properties 14,31,32,33,34,35,36,37,38,39,40,41,42,
43,44,45,46,47,48,49,50,51,52,53,54,82, 83, 84 and
85, a total of 30 properties, do not even exist! These
properties, if they existed at all, would be either in the middle
of the Gulf of Mexico or Sabine Lake. Both the Public
Records ofCameron Parish and the Tax Assessor's Office in
Cameron Parish do not show these Properties on any maps or
other records on file there.

5. The only properties that were at one time owned by H. 1.
Lutcher Stark, and for which record title may not have been
coh',-eyeo-byH.J.tutcnerStatK1Jeforn96S,'atePtojlertles
14, 18,69,71, and 74. [Properties 69 and 70 are duplicates.
as are Properties nand 72.] Property 18 was acquired by H.
J. Lutcher Stark by inheritance through the Estates of his
parents, W. H. Stark and Miriam M. Stark, in 1937; no record
of its subsequent transfer could be located, but the records of
the Tax Assessor's Office ofCameron Parish do not show this
property to be in the name of H. J. Lutcher Stark or any
member of the Stark family. Property 14 was acquired by H.
J. Lutcher Stark many years after the death ofNita Hill Stark,
but such property may not exist, as reflected above. Properties
69, 71 and 74 were acquired by H. J. Lutcher Stark many
years after the death of Nita Hill Stark, but the Office of the
Tax Assessor of Cameron Parish does not show these
properties currently in the name ofH. J. Lutcher Stark or any
other member of the Stark family.

All of the documents (for properties that exist) proving the facts indicated above

appear in the public records of Cameron Parish, Louisiana. For supporting details, see Exhibit F,

Affidavit of Darrell Alston (other Louisiana Properties).

In addition, any remaining Properties that may have been owned by H.J. Lutcher Stark at one

time in Cameron Parish were presumably conveyed to The Largo Company, as part ofa $15 million

sale from H. J. Lutcher Star~and Lutcher & Moore Lumber Company to The Largo Company on

June 29, 1956. In the original contract of sale between H.J. Lutcher Stark and Lutcher & Moore
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Lumber Company~ as Sellers, and Jo1m Mecom, ovvner of The Largo Company~ as Buyer, Sellers

contracted to sell to Buyer all of their surface and mineral properties in Cameron Parish except for

Big Lake and certain properties ovvned in common with the Benckenstein Family:

II Allland~ water bottoms, royalty interests in
oiL gas and other minerals, mineral interests,
over~riding royalty interests in oil. gas and
other minerals, production payment interests
in oil, gas and other minerals, and. without
)imitafion~-atr·other-ngnt;-tttl~1md-interest;­
whether present. future or reversionarY, ovvned
or claimed. by Sellers in Cameron Parish,
Louisiana, except that land ovvnedjointly with
the Benckenstein Syndicate and Sellers'
recreational property at Big Lake, in Sections
10 and 37 of TS 125, R9W. t121 [emphasis
added]

Thus, it is clear that, with only the exception of Big Lake and a few other properties ovvned

by Lutcher & Moore Lumber Company, all of the properties on LaBruyere Affidavit A had been

conveyed by H. J. Lutcher Stark and Lutcher & Moore Lumber Company by no later than 1956.

PI aintiffs have also raised numerous objections challenging the competency ofthe LaBruyere

Affidavits as summary judgment evidence. See Exhibit D. Plaintiffs' Objections to Defendants'

SummarY Judg:ment Evidence, filed herein and incorporated by reference.

Thus, the claim that "hundreds of thousands of acres ofland" were ovvned by H. J. Lutcher

Stark but never disclosed is demonstrated to be absolutely false by the public records in Louisiana.

Not only is such claim false, but it is so blatantly false that the only logical conclusion that may be

f

~I See Exhibit C, Affidavit of Roy Wingate, Attachment No. 29.
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rcachcd is that Defendants, their counsel and their witness, Mr. LaBruyere, intentionally sought to

mislearol this Court wi th their false affidavi ts.

2. Fictional Fable No, 28: Defendants only "recently discovered" the
"hundreds of thousands of acres" of land in Louisiana.

Equally as false is the claim that "hundreds of thousands of acres. ifnot hundreds of

thousands of acres" belonging to the H.J. Lutcher Stark Estate were concealed from the Defendants.

In the Previous Litigation, more than 400,000 pages of documents were produced by Plaintiffs'

predecessor, Nelda C. Stark, to Defendants. In addition, many such documcnts were located by

Defendants and produced to Plaintiffs in the Previous Litigation. Many of these documents pertain

to land once owned by mcmbers of the Stark family or Stark family busincsses in Camcron Parish,

including many of the properties listed on Exhibit A of the LaBruyere Affidavit.'"

In Exhibit C, Affidavit of Roy Wingate, attached hereto, Roy Wingate has identified

many of these documents produced in the Previous Litigation. A number of these documents were

produced by Plaintiffs, but amazingly, many of these documents were furnished by Defendants

themselves more than tcn vcars ago. It is incredible that Defendants can now maintain with a

straight face that these same properties were concealed from them. Not only were Defendants on

constructive notice ofdocuments filed in the Cameron Parish records, but they had actual knowledge

ofthe title to these properties. Equally incredible is the fact that Defendants' counsel, Kevin Isern,

has sworn out a false affidavit claiming that these allegations of fact are within his personal

knowledge and are true and correct.

-l
In addition, the Iberia Parish property described on the LaBruyere Affidavit (Exhibit

8) was also disclosed to the Defendants in thc Previous Litigation. See Exhibit F-2, Unauthenticated

22 Exhibit E, Affidavit of Louis T. LaBruyere (Cameron Parish); see also, Defendants' Response, Exhibit 8.
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l-I.J.L. Stark Audit Report of 12/31/46, pages E002533-35, E002568, E002601-02, showing the

Iberia I?arish property was reported at the value of TWO DOLLARS.

3, Fictiona I Fa hIe No, 2C: The" Hidden" Caddo
Parish Mineral Interest.

On page 15 of their Amended Counterclaim~ Defendants make much ado about an

alleged false affidavit of Nelda C. Stark submitted in support of her Motion for Partial Summary

Judgment in the Previous Litigation. To prove that such affidavit was false, they have submitted

ancillary succession documents filed by N~lda C. Stark in Louisiana in 1982 for the purpose of

clearing title to a newly-discovered mineral interest in Caddo Parish. Besides allegedly contradicting

a statement made by Nelda C. Stark in her 1989 Affidavit submitted to this COurt along with her

Motion for Partial Summary Judgment,2J Defendants complain that such mineral interest was never

revealed to Homer Stark or William l-I. Stark II, in alleged violation of Louisiana forced heirship law

and in breach of Nelda C. Stark's alleged fiduciary duty,

Nelda C. Stark's statement that the independent administration of the Estate ofH.J. Lutcher,

Stark, a Texas estate proceeding, was closed was entirely truthful, as the passage of title to assets in

Louisiana through the succession on file in that State was an entirely separate proceeding. Moreover,

aside from the obvious misstatements of the law of forced heirship and fiduciary duty,24 Defendants

are again making false statements to this Court when they state that:

In sum, when the Stark heirs commenced litigation in the late 80's and
early 90's, Mrs. Nelda Stark, in yet another attempt to conceal and
hide assets, signed a false affidavit in an attempt to throw them off

.
/i

2J See f.n. 28 below.

24 See Parts II and !II below.

MW/JOJ227
-18-



the tmil and mislead this Court which ultimately resulted in summary
judgment in their favor. 2s

Once again, Defendants cannot hope to convince this Court that there has been a concealment

when Defendants had actual knowledge of the ancillary succession and of the Caddo Parish mineml

interest in documents produced in the Previous Litigation. These documents conclusively establish

that Dcfei1QahtS Were aware of this information more thanulO years ago. See Exhibit F-l,

Unauthcnticated copies of Bates-Stamped Documents provided to Defendants in the Previous

Litigation on Caddo Parish Mineml Interest." Though Defendants have no legal claim to this

mineral interest, their claim is clearly barred by the 1991 Release (which expressly covers the

H. J. Lutcher Stark Succession in Louisiana), by res judicata, and by limitation.

C. Fictional Fable No.3: Tall Tales of Texas Timber.

On page 32 of their Response, Defendants refer to an Affidavit executed by Nelda C. Stark

in support ofher Motion for Partial Summary Judgment in the Previous Litigation. Defendantsagain

misrepresent to this Court that" ...Nelda C. Stark submitted an affidavit in support ofhcr contention

that she had not made any property transfers since 1965."27 This is absolutely false. as a plain

reading of the document would indicate. In her Motion for Partial Summary Judgment in the

Previous Litigation. Nelda C. Stark merely stated that "all of the debts of the Lutcher Stark Estate

had been paid and all of the assets had been distributed by 1979." The Affidavit supported that

allegation, the purpose of which was to show merely that the Estate of H,J. Lutcher Stark was no

.
l

25 Exhibit A, Defendants Amended Counterclaim. page 15.

26 These documents shall be resubmitted. together with an authenticating affidavit in a separate. supplemental
filing.

27 Defendants' Response. page 32.
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longer under administration?' Defendants' sinister reading ofthe Affidavit simply does not square

with the plain facts demonstrated by the Affidavit itself.

Defendants have, nevertheless, used this false allegation of fact as an excuse to attach an

incredible piece of summary judgment evidence, in the form of the Affidavit of Sam O. Smith (the

"Smith Affidavit") (Exhibit 9 to Defendants' Response). Though lacking the bizarre color of the

LaBruyere's Affidavits' falsity - there are no misrepresentations to the Court of a concealment of

submerged properties - the Smith Affidavit is equally as flawed as the LaBruyere Affidavits and is

no less offensive through its blatant misstatements of law and errant speculations. That the Smith

Affidavit wholly fails as competent summary judgment evidence is demonstrated conclusively in

Exhibit D. Plaintiffs' Objections to Defendants' Summary Judgment Evidence.

Moreover, Defendants have misrepresented the Smith Affidavit by stating that it proves that

the Nelda C. Stark Affidavit "...was false and constitutes a fraud not only on the Defendants. but on

this count [sic]."'9 Even if the Smith Affidavit were competent evidence and even if the factual

allegations contained therein were correct, they are based wholly on information available both in

the public record and provided to Defendants in the Previous Litigation.3D In particular, as the

Wingate Affidavit shows, Defendants have, for more than 10 years, had in their possession

documents which show that H.J. Lutcher Stark acquired his interest in Weir Long LeafCompany and

the 86.000 acres of timber land in Sabine, Newton and Jasper Counties, Texas as a gift from his

"See Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, page 12; Exhibit"L" to Plaintiffs' Amended Motion for Summary
Judgment; and Affidavit of Nelda C. Stark, Exhibit 17 to Defendants' Response. l

"J- Defendants' Response, page 32.

3() See Exhibit G, Affidavit of Roy Wingate (Texas Property).
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grandmother, Frances A. Lutcher; that, contrary to Smith's allegations, Weir Long Leaf Lumber

Company paid out substantial cash to its stockholders each year and there was no substantial

accumulation of income; and that a 60-year-old legal opinion advised H.J. Lutcher Stark that the

stock dividends paid by Weir Long Leaf Lumber Company were his separate property.31 Thus,

Sam O. Smith's attempt to render a legal opinion is not only incompetent summary judgment

evidence, it is factually and legally wrong.

Most significantly, Defendants have not just recently discovered the matters raised in the

Smith Affidavit, but have had actual knowledge of them for more than 10 years. The sole issue

raised in the Smith Affidavit - the alleged community property interest of Nita Hill Stark in Weir

Long Leaf Lumber Company, the 86,000 acres of timber land, and other properties ofH.J. Lutcher

Stark - was the very issue raised in Defendants' pleadings in the Previous Litigation.3' Thus, any

asserted claim ofDefendants supported by the Smith Affidavit is barred as a matter oflaw by release,

res judicata, and Iimitations. 3
)

D. Fictional Fable No.4: The Riddle of Roslvn Ranch.

Defendants also make certain assertions in their Amended Counterclaim and Response with

respect to Colorado real property held by H.J. Lutcher Stark's family for more than a century, which

property is known as the Roslyn Ranch. There has never been any question that this property was

H.J. Lutcher Stark's separate property and that the Estate ofNita Hill Stark never owned an interest.

31 {d.

I'
32 See Plaintiffs' Third Amended Original Petition (filed by Defendants in the Previous Litigations), Sections

VII-XIII, pages 4-8, Exhibit A to Plaintiffs' Amended Motion for Summary Judgment.

J', See Parts IV, V, and VIII below.
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Moreover, this issue was squarely presented in the Previous Litigation and the relevant documents

were furnished to Defendants at that time.

Defendants make two factual assertions about the Roslyn Ranch:

(1) That the Roslyn Ranch was a part of the Estate of Nita Hill Stark34
; and

(2) That the Roslyn Ranch was improperly transferred by Nelda C. Stark out of the
H. J. Lutcher Stark Estate as a fee to herself.3s

These allegations oT fact are sworn lounder Oath by Defendants'courlsel,Kevin Isern; on

page 28 of Defendants' Amended Counterclaim.

The obvious falsity of the first allegation is shown by the documents attached as a part of

Exhibit H, Affidavit of Roy Wingate. These documents conclusively establish that H.J. Lutcher

Stark acquired most of the Roslyn Ranch as a bequest from his grandmother, Frances A. Lutcher,

in 1924 (constituting his separate property under Texas law), and that H. J. Lutcher Stark and

Nelda C. Stark acquired the remaining portions ofthe Roslyn Ranch after the death ofNita Hill Stark

in 1939." Thus, these documents conclusively establish that the Estate ofNita Hill Stark had no

interest in the Roslyn Ranch and, by extension, Defendants have no interest through her estate.

The second allegation is both false and irrelevant. It is false because the deeds attached as

supporting documentation (Defendants' Response, Exhibit 19) state merely that Nelda C. Stark, as

Independent Executrix of the Estate of H.J. Lutcher Stark, Deceased, conveyed the Roslyn Ranch

to herself. individually ,"for the consideration of carrying out the provisions of said Decedent's

"Exhibit A. Defendants' Amended Counterclaim, Section 7.04. page 25.

35Exhibit A, Defendants' Amended Counterclaim, Section 5.01, page 18; Defendants' Response, page 54 and
Exhibit 19.

, "'Exhibit H, Affidavit of Roy Wingate.
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Will." Defendants have distorted the last phrase by claiming that it means that Nelda C. Stark

transferred the property to herself as an executor's fee, in apparent violation of the Will of

H. J. Lutcher Stark. The quoted language, however, instead appears to indicate that Nelda C. Stark,

as Independent Executrix, transferred such property to herself in distribution of the bequest made

to her of such property under the Will of H.J. Lutcher Stark.

Nevertheless, even if Defendants' interpretation of the quoted language were correct. so

what? Defe11dants' predecessor, William H. Stark II, received his full bequest under the Will of

H. J. Lutcher Stark (comprised of a single cash bequest of $1 million) and signed a release for it

more than 30 years ago.)7 The Roslyn Ranch passed through the residuary estate ofH.J. Lutcher

Stark to the residuary beneficiaries, Nelda C. Stark and the Nelda C. and H.J. Lutcher Stark

Foundation (hereinafter "the Foundation").)8 Surely Defendants are not trying to tell this Court that

they have forced heirship rights in Colorado as well! Clearly, in addition to the impediments to any

such claim involving the Roslyn Ranch set forth below, Defendants have no standing to complain

about the manner in which Nelda C. Stark distributed this property out ofthe Estate ofH.J. Lutcher

Stark to herself as a residuary beneficiary under the terms of his Will. Consequently, any claim as

to the Roslyn Ranch is a nonissue.

Moreover, the summary judgment record clearly establishes that all ofthe allegations raised

by Defendants about the Roslyn Ranch are either shown to be false by, or are based on, documents

"See Receipt and Full and Final Release of William H. Stark II, Plaintiffs' Amended Motion for Summary
Judgment, Exhibit UK II,

"See. Will of H.J. Lutcher Stark, Plaintiffs' Amended Motion for Summary Judgment,
Exhibit "J".
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produced to and copied by Defendants in the Previous Litigation.39 Because Defendants received

and possess documents relating to the Roslyn Ranch and the true nature of its ownership in the

Previous Litigation, Defendantshave actual knowledge ofthe falsity oftheir assertion that the Estate

ofNita Hill Stark had an interest in the Roslyn Ranch. Moreover, any claim alleged by Defendants

in connection with the H.J. Lutcher Stark Estate is fully discharged by the 1991 Release. res judicata,

and limitations. 40

E. Fictional Fable No.5: The Ex-Security Guard Evidence is
Competent, Controverting Summary Judgment Evidence.

Finally, Defendants have submitted the sworn testimony of two ex-employees of Nelda C.

Stark as summary judgment evidence that information was concealed from Defendants in the

Previous Litigation.

The flaws ofthe statements taken ofthe ex-security guards are both obvious and fatal. Those

flaws are detailed in Exhibit D, Plaintiffs' Objection to Defendants' Summary Judgment Evidence,

which is attached hereto and is incorporated herein by reference.

Nevertheless, even ifthe statements ofthe ex-security guards were taken as factually correct,

they do not support Defendants' contention that the 1991 Release should be set aside for fraud. At

best. these statements could establish that some information or data was not produced in the Previous

Litigation. It does not state - because the Affiants cannot possibly know- whether such information'

was privileged or even whether it was in fact ultimately disclosed to Defendants. Most important,

since the Affiants cannot identify the information or data that was allegedly hidden, they cannot

lY See Exhibit H, Affidavit of Roy Wingate (Colorado Property).

-,
41'See Parts IV, V and VIII below.
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possibly provide credible evidence that such infonnation or data was material and that Defendants

relied on such infonnation in executing the 1991 Release. Proofofmateriality is absolutely essential

to any attempt by Defendants to set aside the 1991 Release on the basis offraud.41

In Ryland Group, Inc. v. Hood," the Texas Supreme Court set forth the applicable standards

for an affidavit presented in rebuttal of a motion for summary judgment. The starting point is the

applicable Rule, which states that an affidavit "shall be made onpersonal knowledge, shall set forth

facts as would be admissible in evidence, and shall show affinnatively that the affiant is competent

to testify to the matters stated therein.,,4J In addition, the Court held that the affidavit must present

some probative evidence of the facts at issue and must state something more than mere

conclusions.44 A witness' affidavit that he "believes" certain facts to be true is insufficient.

Testimony based on the "best knowledge" or "belief' of the affiant is also insufficient as summary

judgment evidence.45

The ex-security guards' statements offered by Defendants as summary judgment evidence

fail to meet this minimum standard. With regard to the Affidavit of Charles M. Kinney, at no place

in this Affidavit does Mr. Kinney state that he has actual or personal knowledge of the facts he is

4IF/etcher v. Fletcher, 26 S.W.3d 66, 77 (Tex. App. - Waco 2000, pet. denied) and Balogh v. Ramos, 978
S.W.2d 696. 701 (Tex. App. - Corpus Christi 1998, pet. denied), and cert. denied, 528 U.S. 822 (1999) and Cart v.
Chrislie. 970 S.W.2d 620. 624 (Tex. App. - Austin 1998, pet. denied) both citing DeSanlis v. Wackenhut Corp., 793'
S.W.2d 670. 698 (Tex. 1990) and cerl. denied, 498 U.S. 1048 (1991) for the proposition that the Texas Supreme Court
has defined fraudulent inducement as a simple fraud claim.

4'924 S.W.2d 120 (Tex. 1996).

4)Tex.R.C;v.P. I66a(l).

44 Ryland. 924 S. W.2d at 122; see also: Brownlee v. Brownlee, 665 S.W.2d 111, 112 (Tex. 1984) (holding that
"[a]ffidavits consisting only ofconclusions are insufficient to raise an issue offact in a summary judgment proceeding").

45 Ryland. 924 S.W.2d at 122.
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asserting; rather, he merely claims to have knowledge ofthe whereabouts ofconcealed evidence, that

such knowledge was "passed on" to him, and that he knew "secondhand" about an alleged

concealment.'6 The closest he comes to stating that he has knowledge of anything pertinent to the

alleged concealment is when he agrees that, to the best of his knowledge, the "boxes" were never

turned over to Defendants,47 though his status as a mere casual observer of the discovery process in

the Previous Litigation hardly enables "to the best of my knowledge" to carry any weight. Finally.

when Mr. Kinney is asked if the information contained in his Affidavit is to the best of his

knowledge, he agrees but goes no further. 48 This Affidavit is completely inadequate as summary

judgment evidence under the Ryland standard.

The sworn statement ofClayton Newberry also fails to present competent summary judgment

evidence. First, on several instances, Mr. Newberry states that the information he provides is to the

best of his knowledge." Also, he answers questions based on just his "understanding."so To one

question. he answers: "I believe SO."SI Then, within the last portion of the Statement, Defendants'

counsel. Clayton Burgess, changes the form ofhis questions to reflect the statement that the answers

to the questions are based on Mr. Newberry's personal knowledge. He includes this in several

questions. Nonetheless, Mr. Burgess' questions all ask Mr. Newberry to state conclusions rather

46Affidavit ofCharles M. Kinney, Exhibit 6 to Defendants' Response (hereinafter the "Kinney Affidavit"), page
7. line 22: page 8, line 7. .

"Kinney Affidavit, page 9, line 6.

"Kinney Affidavit, page 9, line 19.

4"Swom Statement of Clayton Newberry, Exhibit 7 to Defendants' Response (hereinafter, the "Newberry
Statement"), page S, line 13; page 8, line 3.

5"Newberry Statement, page S, line 21; page 6, line 13.

51Newberry Statement, page 10, line 23.
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than to verify facts with any probative value." Mr. Newberry's conclusions are not based on facts

within his actual knowledge because he does not know what infonnation, if anything, was actually

being kept in the alleged "briefcases/suitcases," None of these conclusory statements meet the

minimum standard of Ryland,

On one occasion, Mr, Burgess asks Mr. Newberry. to state whether or not the information

contained in his Statement is based on his personal knowledge. The question. however, is overly

broad and does not refer to any specific testimony, 53 With all of the statements of conclusion and

belief running through Mr. Newberry's Statement, this question alone does not salvage anything.

The Kitmey Affidavit and the Newberry Statement also fail as competent summary judgment

evidence because they fail to support any "genuine issue of material fact." In this regard. the Texas

courts have stated that materiality depends on the substantive law ofthe legal issues presented. and

" ... only disputes over facts that might affect the outcome ofthe governing law will properly preclude .

the entry of summary judgment."" To constitute evidence ofa genuine issue, the evidence must be

such that a reasonable jury could return a verdict for the nonmoving party.55 "Ifthe evidence simply

shows that some metaphysical doubt as to [if] the fact exists, or if the evidence is not significantly

probative. the material fact issue is not genuine."56

5'Newberry Statement, page 9, lines 13-24; page 10, line 19; page I I, lines 3-20; page 12, line 23.

53Newberry Statement, page 10, line 16.

54Moore v, K Mart Corp., 981 S,W. 2d 266, 269 (Tex. Apr. - San Antonio 1998, pet. denied), citing Anderson
v. Liberty Lobb.1', Inc" 477 U, S, 242 (1986).

55 Moore. 981 S,W,2d at 269; Anderson, 477 U,S, at 248,

5"Moore, 981 S.W.2d at 269,
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l

Additionally, when evaluating summary judgment evidence, more than a scintilla of

probative evidence must be present in order to raise a genuine issue of material fact. "Less than a

scintilla ofevidence exists when the evidence is so weak as to do no more than create a mere surmise

or suspicion ofa fact. 57 Several Texas appellate courts have cited this proposition and concluded that

evidence amounting to less than a scintilla is the legal equivalent of no evidence for summary

judgment purposes.58

The ex"security guard statements fail to raise more than a scintilla ofany probative evidence.

Kinney and Newberry are unable to testify with the certainty of personal knowledge that the

information alleged withheld was in fact withheld from Defendants in the Previous Litigation. For

all that they know, the information withheld may have been privileged, or it may have been personal

information of Nelda C. Stark not covered by the discovery requests, or it may not have been

withheld at all from Defendants. They can only testify about what they heard other people say, and

none of that is very specific. They cannot even agree whether the allegedly concealed information

was held in boxes or briefcases/suitcases.

Most significantly, they cannot tell the Court what information was allegedly concealed as

they never actually saw any of it. Their statements are mere speculations and surmises, interspersed

with the conclusions that Defendants wantto hear. At best, the statements raise a mere "metaphysical

doubt" or a suspicion that someone may have been intending to withhold something at some time

57" toore. 981 S. W. 2d at 269, citing Kindred v. Con/Chem. Inc., 650 S. W. 2d 61,63 (Tex. 1983).

"See Cenlllr)' 21 Real Estate Corp. v. Hometown Real Estate Co., 890 S. W.2d 118. 126 (Tex. App.- Texarkana
1994, writ denied); Rayburn v. KJI Bluechip Investments, 50 S.W. 3d 699 (Tex. App.- Fort Worth 2001, no pe!.); Allen
v. VimClII & Sons. Inc., 28 S. W. 3d 226 (Tex. App.- Beaumont 2000, writ denied); Melendez v. Exxon Corp., 998 S. W.
2d 266 (Tex. App.- Houston [14'" Dis!.] 1999. no writ); Ebasco v. Rex, 923 S.W. 2d 694 (Tex. App.- Corpus Christi
1996. writ denied); Keene Corp. v Gardner, 837 S.W.2d 224 (Tex. App.- Dallas 1992, writ denied).
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during the Previous Litigation. Defendants, however, would ask this Court to make a quantum leap

and find that such alleged evidence is probative offraud sufficient to set aside the 1991 Release. The

Texas courts have made it clear that this Court is not required to make such a leap, and the Court

should not make it. The statements are simply worthless as summary judgmerit evidence and should

be given no weight.

Finally, there is a perfectly logical response to the assertions made of documents allegedly

concealed in boxes from Defendants. In the Previous Litigation, counsel for Nelda C. Stark and the

Foundation withheld from production certain documents claimed to be exempt from production due

to privilege or Jack of relevancy. Those documents were kept in boxes and a "large manilla

envelope" in Clyde McKee's office and on a shelf in another room. Among the documents were

"current computer printouts" ofproperties ofNelda C. Stark. A list ofthese documents was prepared

and given to Defendants' counsel in the Previous Litigation along with a Jetter dated May 24, 1990.

After the conclusion of the Previous Litigation, such documents were returned to the general files

ofNelda C. Stark and the Foundation in the Foundation offices.59 It is probable that this information

is what the ex-security guards now think they recall 10 years later. If so, the matters raised by the

ex-security guards in their statements reflect merely a long-moot issue on the scope of discovery

requests between counsel in the Previous Litigation. which hardly rises to the level ofa sinister plot

to conceal information.

.
I

lY See Exhibit I. Affidavit ofNonna Clark.
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II.

PLAINTIFFS DO NOT OWE DEFENDANTS A FIDUCIARY DUTY

As the factual basis of Defendants' claims consists entirely of false affidavits and

incompetent summary judgment evidence, so the legal basis of Defendants' Response is grounded

on misstatements and misapplications of Texas law. The entire basis of Defendants , argument that

the 1991 Release does not effectively bar theirc1aims under the Schlumberger case is that Plaintiffs

purportedly have breached a fiduciary duty to Defendants.

Defendants sum up their argument on fiduciary duty as follows:

As a general proposition, Defendants would show that Eunice Benckenstein, Walter
Riedel, and Roy Wingate, in their various capacities involving the Estates of H.J.
Lutcher Stark, Nelda C. Stark, and Nelda C. and H.J. Lutcher Stark Foundation, owe
William and Homer Stark a high fiduciary duty of full and accurate disclosure of
information pertaining to the assets ofH.J. Lutcher Stark, Nelda C. Stark, and Nita
Hill Stark's Estates that have been improperly and fraudulently made part of the
Estates of H.J. Lutcher Stark, Nelda C. Stark, the Nelda C. and H.J. Lutcher Stark
Foundation, and now, part of the property and/or assets possessed by Eunice
Benckenstein in her official and unofficial capacities.60

Condensed in this short summary passage - and repeated in detail throughout the Defendants'

Response - are no less than five (5) separate fiduciary relationships that Defendants are seeking to

impose on Plaintiffs: (I) between (a) the Independent Co-Executors ofthe Estate ofNelda C. Stark,

as Independent Executor of the Estate ofH.J. Lutcher Stark, as Executor of the Estate of Nita Hill·

Stark, and (b) Defendants, as beneficiaries of the Estate of Nita Hill Stark; (2) between (a) the

Independent Co-Executors of the Estate ofNelda C. Stark, as Independent Executor of the Estate of

(l°Defendants l Response, page 42.
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H.J. Lutcher Stark, and (b) Defendants, as beneficiaries of the Estate of H.J. Lutcher Stark; (3)

between (a) the Independent Co-Executors of the Estate of Nelda C. Stark, and (b) Defendants, as

alleged creditors of the Estate of Nelda C. Stark; (4) between (a) Eunice R. Benckenstein, as

Successor Independent Executor of the Estate of H.J. Lutcher Stark, and (b) Defendants, as

beneficiaries of the Estate ofH.J. Lutcher Stark (and, by further extension, the Estate of Nita Hill

Stark, Deceased); and (5) between the Foundation and Defendants.

As will be shown below, none of these fiduciary relationships exist as a matter of law. In

what is obviously a desperate attempt to avoid the clear ruling of the Texas Supreme Court's

Schlumberger decision, Defendants have repeatedly and intentionally misstated and misapplied

Texas law on fiduciary duties against Plaintiffs. Disregarding basic and well-established principles

of Texas law, Defendants would instead impose fiduciary duties everywhere and upon everyone in

sight. These claimed fiduciary duties and the alleged breach of them by Plaintiffs exist only in the

imagination of Defendants and their highly creative counsel. But as no such fiduciary relationships

have ever existed under Texas law, Defendants may not maintain a claim for breach of those non-

existent duties. The argument that Plaintiffs have breached fiduciary duties to Defendants is a mere

foundation laid in sand which, when swept away, brings down with it Defendants' entire framework

for their various causes of action.

A. This Court has Previouslv Ruled that Nelda Co Stark Owed No
Fiduciary Duty to Defendants.

Defendants have ignored the Partial Summary Judgment entered by this Court in the Previous

.
Litigation on many M the same issues raised again by Defendants in their Amended Counterclaim

and in their Response to Plaintiffs' Amended Motion for Summary Judgment. While the language
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of the Partial Summary Judgment would support summary judgment in this case on the basis ofres

judicata, 61 discussion of the Partial Summary Judgment is necessary here because, after applying

some ofthe basic principles outlined above, this Court has already held that Nelda C. Stark did not

owe anyfiduciary duties to these D~rendants as Independent Executor ofthe Estate ofH.J. Lutcher

Stark, Deceased.

1. The Partial Summary Judgment in the Previous Litigation.

On May 18, 1989, Nelda C. Stark filed a Motion for Partial Summary in the Previous

Litigation. In her Motion, Nelda C. Stark sought "dismissal ofall claims against her as Independent

Executrix of the Estate ofH.J. Lutcher Stark, leaving at this time the claims against her individually

and the claims against the Stark Foundation."62 Nelda C. Stark requested that this Court enter a

Partial Summary Judgment dismissing the claims of plaintiffs (Defendants herein) that she account

for the assets of the Estate ofNita Hill Stark, and all claims asserted against her in her capacity as

Independent Executrix ofthe Estate ofH.J. Lutcher Stark, Deceased.'J Stating her argument in favor

of her Motion, Nelda C. Stark contended that:

By this Motion, Nelda C. Stark does not seek dismissal of the claims
against her or against the Stark Foundation, Rather, Nelda C. Stark
seeks a dismissal of plaintiffs' claim that, just because she served as
the Independent Executrix of the Estate of Lutcher Stark, she is
obligated to provide an accounting of the Estate ofNita Hill Stark, an

("See Part VlII below.

"'See Plaintiffs' Amended ~tion for Summary Judgment, Exhibit "L," Defendant Nelda Childers Stark's
Motion for Panial Summary Judgment, page I.

6''hi.. at page 13.
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Estate over which Lutcher Stark (not Nelda C. Stark) served as
Independent Executor almost fifty years ago."

On April 24, 1990, this Court entered a Partial Summary Judgment granting the relief

requested by Nelda C. Stark. In such Judgment, this Court dismissed all claims of Defendants

against Nelda C. Stark as Independent Executrix of the Estate ofH.J. Lutcher Stark, Deceased.6j

On March 5, 1991, following settlement ofthe Previous Litigation and execution ofthe 1991

Release, this Court entered its Order ofDismissal with Prejudice.66 By entry ofthis Order. the Partial

Summary Judgment entered on April 24, 1990 became a final judgment.

2. The Fiduciary Claims Alleged in Defendants' Amended
Counterclaim are Essentially Identical to the Claims Disposed of
in the Partial Summary Judgment.

In the Previous Litigation, the entire basis for Defendants' cause of action was their

asseliion that H.J. Lutcher Stark, as Independent Executor ofthe Estate ofNita Hill Stark, Deceased,

fraudulently and intep.tionally converted to his own benefit assets belonging to the Nita Hill Stark

Estate. Defendants, as beneficiaries of the Nita Hill Stark Estate, brought their lawsuit against Nelda

C. Stark and the Foundation, seeking relief for the alleged wrongdoing of H.J. Lutcher Stark that

occurred some 50 years ago. Specifically, in their pleadings on file in the Previous Litigation,

Defendants asked this Court to (a) order Nelda C. Stark, as Independent Executrix of the Estate of

""Id.. at page 3.

"See Plaintiffs' Amended Motion for Sum!)1ary Judgment, Exhibit "N," Partial Summary Judgment granted
on April 24, 1990. ;

""See Plaintiffs' Amended Motion for Summary Judgment, Exhibit "C," Order of Dismissal with Prejudice
entered on March 5, 1991.
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H.J. Lutcher Stark, to provide a full and complete accounting of the assets of the Estate ofNita Hill

Stark; (b) determine and declare if any properties were converted from the Estate ofNita Hill Stark;

and (c) award actual damages or, alternatively, impose a constructive trust on the allegedly converted

assets in the hands of Nelda C. Stark and/or the Foundation.67

In Sections 7.03-7. I 0 of the Amended Counterclaim filed by Defendants in this

action on or about August 15, 2001, Defendants again (a) demand an accounting ofthe Estate ofNita

Hill Stark, (b) request that the Court determine and declare (where have we seen that language

before0) the properties that should have been made a part of the Estate of Nita Hill Stark but were

instead reflected as assets of the Estate ofH.J. Lutcher Stark and/or the Estate ofNelda C. Stark; and

(c) request an award of actual damages and imposition of a constructive trust. In support thereof,

Defendants repeat the same allegations made in the Previous Litigation that H.J. Lutcher Stark failed

to account for and converted assets belonging to the Estate ofNita Hill Stark. Defendants attempt

to disguise their counterclaim herein as a different claim by couching it in terms of H.J. Lutcher

Stark's alleged fiduciary duty to Homer Stark and William H. Stark, II, but factually it is the same

claim as alleged before."

While the Amended Counterclaim makes other allegations against Plaintiffs relating to the

l-l..J. Lutcher Stark Estate and the Nelda C. Stark Estate, virtually all of these additional allegations

are derivative of Defendants' underlying claim against H.J. Lutcher Stark in connection with his

administration of the Nita Hill Stark Estate. For example, the allegation that Eunice R.

"'See Plaintiffs Amended Motion for Summary JUdgm1nt, Exhibits "A" (Third Amended Petition) and "M"
(First Amended Petition).

"/J,: see particularly Section 4.00, pages 5-8; see also: Defendants' Response, pages 27·30.
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Benckenstein, Walter G. Riedel, III and Roy Wingate, as Independent Executors of the Estate of

Nelda C. Stark, have breached a fiduciary duty to Defendants in connection with assets allegedly

concealed from them necessarily relates back to their allegation in the Previous Litigation that H.J.

Lutcher Stark did not account properly to them in the Nita Hill Stark Estate and that he breached his

fiduciary duty by concealing from them assets that belonged in that Estate. In addition. the allegation

that Eunice R. Benckenstein, as Successor Independent Executor of the Estate ofH.J. Lutcher Stark.

somehow owes Defendants' fiduciary duties is derivative ofthe original claim alleged by Defendants

in the Previous Litigation. Thus, to the extent that claims against fiduciaries have been disposed of

in the Previous Litigation by this Court, they are equally inapplicable here.69

Only two claims raised in Defendants Amended Counterclaim are arguably not derivative

of the original claims made with respect to the Nita Hill Stark Estate in the Previous Litigation.

First, Defendants have stated a claim against the Independent Co-Executors of the Estate ofNelda

C. Stark for alleged fraud in connection with the settlement of the Previous Litigation, for which

Defendants seek rescission of the 1991 Release and damages. This claim is both factually false (see

Part I above) and barred by the language of the 1991 Release itself (see Part V below). Second,

Defendants have made allegations against the Estate ofNelda C. Stark and the Foundation for assets

allegedly concealed during the administration of the Estate of H.J. Lutcher Stark, primarily in

,
f

'''See also Part VIII below for discussion of resjudicata.

-I
MW/30J~27

-35-



Louisiana.70 This claim is also based on false affidavits (see Part I above), and thus no claim exists

under the laws of forced heirship in Louisiana as a matter of law (see Part III below).

While much of Defendants' assertions about fiduciary duty have already been disposed of

by this Court in the Partial Summary Judgment in the Previous Litigation, independent legal grounds

exist under which this Court may rule that, as a matter oflaw, the Plaintiffs have never owed and do

not presently owe a fiduciary duty to Defendants.

B. The Independent Executor of an Estate does not have an
. Obligation to Determine the Character ofthe Assets ofthe Estate.

Throughout their Response, Defendants make the ridiculous claim, unsupported by any legal

authority, that Nelda Stark as the Independent Executor of the Estate of H.J. Lutcher Stark owed

Homer Stark and William H. Stark II a fiduciary duty to determine whether assets included within

the Estate of H..T. Lutcher Stark were fraudulently obtained from the Estate of Nita Hill Stark.

Defendants take this ridiculous claim even one step further by asserting that, as Co-Independent

Executrix of the Estate ofNelda C. Stark, Eunice R. Benckenstein owes Homer Stark and the heirs

of Wi lliam H. Stark II this same fiduciary duty to ensure that the assets contained within the Estate

of Nelda C. Stark were not fraudulently obtained from the Estate of Nita Hill Stark through the

conduit of the Estate ofH.J. Lutcher Stark. The implicit assumption made within this claim is that

an independent executor owes a fiduciary obligation to the beneficiaries of an estate to determine

whether all of the assets contained within that estate truly belong to the decedent. The imposition

70 Exhibit A. Defendants' Amended Counterclaim, pages 6, 15; see also: Defendants' Response, pages 29-30;
32-34: 37-39.
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of such a duty on an independent executor would tum hundreds of years of Texas probate law

directly on its head.

The Court must analyze closely exactly what Defendants are claiming concerning this alleged

fiduciary obligation. Nita Hill Stark died in 1939. Homer Stark and William H. Stark II were

beneficiaries to her Estate, which was administered by H.J. Lutcher Stark as Independent Executor.

In this lawsuit (and in the Previous Litigation) Defendants claim that H.J. Lutcher Stark converted

property that should have gone to Homer Stark and William H. Stark II pursuant to Nita Hill Stark's

will. H,J. Lutcher Stark died in 1965 leaving a will that provided specific bequests to Homer Stark

and William H. Stark II and that named Nelda C. Stark as the Independent Executrix of the Estate.

Nelda C. Stark had absolutely nothing to do with the administration of the Estate ofNita Hill Stark.

Therefore, at no time did Nelda C. Stark serve in any fiduciary capacity to Homer Stark and William

H. Stark, II concerning the Estate of Nita Hill Stark.

Defendants claim, however, that when H.J. Lutcher Stark died and Nelda C. Stark became

Independent Executrix of his Estate, Nelda C. Stark owed Homer Stark and William H. Stark II an

affirmative obligation to determine whether the assets in the Estate ofH.J. Lutcher Stark included

assets that should have been distributed to Homer and Bill Stark by H.J. Lutcher Stark from their

mother's estate." However, at no time during the administration of the Estate ofH.J. Lutcher Stark

did either Homer Stark or William H. Stark, II make a claim against that Estate for the assets

allegedly included within that Estate that they now claim belonged to them as beneficiaries of the .

.
l

"It is unclear whether plaintiffs claim this affirmative fiduciary obligation was created by the fact that Homer
Stark and William H. Stark. II were beneficiaries to the Estate ofH.J. Lutcher Stark or "creditors" to the Estate of H.l
Lutcher Stark as a result of the alleged fraud ofH.J. Lutcher Stark. Regardless, the result is the same.
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